
This template is based on a complaint that arose out of two different servicers’ failure to properly respond to a QWR seeking the identity of the holder of a second mortgage.  The borrower was seeking to strip off the second mortgage lien in a bankruptcy case (when lien stripping was allowed in chapter 7 cases in the 11th Circuit, which is no longer the case – but this can be done in chapter 13 cases, and determining the right party to serve with the lien strip motion or adversary is critical).  The lawsuit also alleges a violation of the provision of TILA that requires the creditor to provide a written notice within 30 days of the transfer, sale, or assignment of a mortgage.  Finally, the suit involves an FDCPA claim for servicers continuing to attempt to collect at mortgage that had been discharged and the lien stripped off.  Remember that the FDCPA only applies to mortgage servicers if the loan was in default at the time they took over as a servicer.  
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT


NORTHERN DISTRICT OF MIGHIGAN
____ DIVISION
	bONNIE WALTERS, 

             Plaintiff, 

      vs. 

SELECT PORTFOLIO SERVICING, INC., U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, AS TRUSTEE FOR THE HOLDERS OF CSB4b GRANTOR TRUST 2014-1 BENEFICIAL INTEREST CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2014-1, and BAYVIEW LOAN SERVICING, LLC,
            Defendants. 
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)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)
)
)
))))))
	CIVIL ACTION 
FILE NO. ___________



COMPLAINT

      
Plaintiff Bonnie Walters (“Ms. Walters”) states as follows: 

I.  PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. This Complaint is filed under the Truth in Lending Act (“TILA”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 1601-1666, to recover damages, attorney’s fees, court costs and litigation expenses for failure to provide information required by 15 U.S.C. §1641(g). Ms. Walters also seeks damages, attorney’s fees, court costs and litigation expenses under the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) for failure to provide information and correct errors as required by 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e) and 12 C.F.R. §§1024.35 and 1024.36, and under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. 1692d, 1692e, and 1692f for unfair, deceptive, and harassing practices in the collection of a debt.  

II.  JURISDICTION


2.  Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by 15 U.S.C. § 1640(e), 15 U.S.C. § 2614, 15 U.S.C. 1692k(d), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337. 

III.  PARTIES


3.  Ms. Walters is a United States citizen and resident of Fulton County, Georgia.  


4.  Defendant Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (“SPS”) is a Utah corporation that regularly engages in the business of mortgage servicing and does substantial business in the state of Georgia. SPS’s principal office address is 3815 S. West Temple, Compliance Department, Salt Lake City, Utah 84115.  


5.  Defendant U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of CSB4b Grantor Trust 2014-1 Beneficial Interest Certificates, Series 2014-1 (“U.S. Bank”) is an Ohio corporation that regularly engages in the business of mortgage lending and purchasing of mortgage loans and has done substantial business in the state of Georgia. U.S. Bank’s principal office address is 425 Walnut Street, Cincinnati, OH 45202.  

6.  Defendant Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC (“Bayview”) is a Delaware corporation that regularly engages in the business of mortgage servicing and does substantial business in the state of Georgia. Bayview’s principal office address is 4425 Ponce de Leon Blvd, Coral Gables, FL, 33146.
IV.  FACTUAL BACKGROUND


7.  Ms. Walters is a 66-year-old, African-American woman who purchased her home in Atlanta, Georgia in 1997 and has lived there continuously since that time.  
8.  In 2002, Peachtree Funding Group extended a second mortgage loan in the amount of $28,146 to Ms. Walters in a consumer credit transaction involving a promissory note and a security deed (“the Transaction”).  

9.   SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1As part of the Transaction, Peachtree Funding Group acquired a security interest in residential real property owned by Ms. Walters and used as her principal dwelling.

10.  The note and security deed were assigned to American General Finance on December 19, 2011, which became Spring Leaf Financial Services, Inc. (“Spring Leaf Financial”). 

11.  Spring Leaf Mortgage Services (“SpringLeaf Mortgage”) held the servicing rights for the loan until the servicing rights were transferred to Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc., effective October 1, 2014. On information and belief, the servicing rights for the loan were later transferred to Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC, effective March 6, 2015.  

12.  On July 31, 2014, Ms. Walters filed a petition for relief under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Northern District of Georgia, Case Number 14-12345.  Because the balance owed on her first mortgage was approximately $38,077 and the value of her home was approximately $31,500, Ms. Walters had the right to strip off the second mortgage lien and discharge her liability on the debt. Therefore, Ms. Walters sought to identify the owner of the second mortgage, in order to obtain an order from the Bankruptcy Court stripping the lien against the correct party.  


13.  On July 2, 2014, in an effort to identify any new holder of the second mortgage, Ms. Walters sent a letter to Spring Leaf Mortgage, the servicer of her second mortgage at that time, requesting that SpringLeaf Mortgage identify the holder of her second mortgage. That letter constituted a Qualified Written Request (“QWR”) to a servicer under RESPA 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e). 
14. On July 23, 2014, Spring Leaf responded that the loan was owned by Spring Leaf Financial Services, Inc. This response was consistent with the deed records, which reflected the last assignment of the loan on December 19, 2011 to American General Finance, which later became Spring Leaf Financial Services, Inc.  
15. In her bankruptcy case, Ms. Walters filed a motion to strip the second mortgage against Spring Leaf Financial on September 8, 2014, effectuated service properly under Bankruptcy Rule 7004, and obtained an order signed by the Court dated October 17, 2014, stripping the second mortgage as to Spring Leaf Financial.

16. Ms. Walters received a letter dated October 2, 2014, notifying her that the servicing of her loan was being transferred to SPS effective October 1, 2014.

17. On October 22, 2014, through counsel, Ms. Walters sent SPS a Qualified Written Request, as defined under RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e), seeking the identity of the holder of her mortgage, to ensure that the lien strip order had been entered against the correct party. A true copy of the October 22nd QWR is attached as Exhibit A. SPS received the October 22nd QWR on October 28, 2014.
18. In a letter dated October 30, 2014, SPS responded to the October 22nd QWR stating that the mortgage loan was owned by DLJ Mortgage Capital, Inc. A true copy of SPS’s October 30th response is attached as Exhibit B.  
19. Based on this response, Ms. Walters incurred the time, inconvenience, and expense of filing another lien strip motion against DLJ Mortgage Capital, Inc.  On November 12, 2014, through counsel, she filed the motion and effectuated service properly under Bankruptcy Rule 7004. Her counsel attended a hearing on the motion on December 18, 2014. She obtained an order dated December 24, 2014, stripping the second mortgage as to DLJ Mortgage Capital, Inc.  
20. In a letter dated December 9, 2014, SPS sent Ms. Walters a second response to her October 22nd QWR, identifying the owner of her loan as “CSB3b-1 (don’t use).” A true copy of SPS’s December 9th response is attached as Exhibit C.
21. In a letter dated December 27, 2014, SPS sent a collection letter to Ms. Walters through her counsel claiming, “Even though your client’s personal liability on the note may be discharged, dismissed, or subject to the automatic stay, the terms of the mortgage remain in effect. The owner of the mortgage, as lien holder, continues to have an enforceable lien on the real property. If the lien rights are enforced, your client’s [sic] may lose her interest in the real property.” SPS enclosed with this letter a copy of its December 9th response to her QWR. A true copy of the December 27th letter from SPS is attached as Exhibit D. SPS mailed other collection letters to Ms. Walters asserting the validity of its lien and requesting documentation from Ms. Walters so that SPS could review her for a loan modification.
22. On December 30, 2014, after several unsuccessful attempts to contact SPS by phone, counsel for Ms. Walters spoke with an SPS employee who informed her that the owner of the loan was Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC.  

23. In a letter dated December 29, 2014, which Ms. Walters received in January 2015, SPS sent Ms. Walters a third response to the October 22nd QWR, identifying the owner of the loan as Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC. A true copy of SPS’s December 29th response is attached as Exhibit E.

24. On January 5, 2015, McCalla Raymer entered an appearance on behalf of SPS in Ms. Walters’ bankruptcy case. Ms. Walters, through counsel, contacted McCalla Raymer to confirm whether Bayview was in fact the owner of the mortgage.  

25. On January 12, 2015, McCalla Raymer confirmed by email that SPS had again identified Bayview as the owner of the mortgage.

26. Based on these responses and the December 29th response to her October 22nd QWR, Ms. Walters incurred the time, inconvenience, and expense of filing a third lien strip motion, this time against Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC. On January 13, 2015, through counsel, she filed the motion and effectuated service properly under Bankruptcy Rule 7004. Her counsel attended a hearing on the motion on February 19, 2015. She obtained an order dated February 24, 2015, stripping the second mortgage as to Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC.
27. On or about February 17, 2015, Ms. Walters received a notice of assignment, sale, or transfer letter from U.S. Bank dated February 12, 2015, which for the first time identified the owner of her second mortgage loan as U.S. Bank National Association as Trustee for the benefit of the Holders of CSB4b Grantor Trust 2014-1 Beneficial Interest Certificates, Series 2014-1 (“U.S. Bank”).  
28. The February 17, 2015 letter states that U.S. Bank became the owner of the loan effective November 20, 2014. 
29. Ms. Walters did not receive any other notice of assignment, sale, or transfer of her second mortgage after July 23, 2014 (the date of Spring Leaf Mortgage’s response to her first QWR). Therefore, upon information and belief, her second mortgage loan was assigned directly from Spring Leaf Financial to U.S. Bank on November 20, 2014. The order Ms. Walters obtained against Spring Leaf on October 17, 2014, was binding and effective against U.S. Bank, Spring Leaf’s assignee.  
 

30. Due to SPS and U.S. Bank’s refusal to acknowledge the binding effect of the October 17, 2014 order or record a lien cancellation in the deed records, Ms. Walters incurred the time, inconvenience, and expense of filing a fourth lien strip motion, this time against U.S. Bank. On April 6, 2015, through counsel, she filed the motion and effectuated service properly under Bankruptcy Rule 7004. Her counsel attended a hearing on the motion on May 7, 2015. She obtained an order dated May 11, 2015, stripping the second mortgage as to U.S. Bank.

31. The Bankruptcy Court signed the order granting a chapter 7 discharge in Ms. Walters’ case on May 26, 2015.  

32. Even after being notified of the lien strip orders and the entry of the chapter 7 discharge, Bayview has continued to send letters to Ms. Walters declaring its intent to accelerate her second mortgage and urging her to contact Bayview to discuss workout options related to her second mortgage. Several of those letters are attached as Exhibits G(N. In November of 2015, Ms. Walters received a letter from a law firm claiming to represent Bayview. The letter stated that Bayview referred the “Loan debt” of $51,104.69 to their firm for “review and handling.” Receiving these letters on an ongoing basis caused Ms. Walters significant stress and anxiety, as she was confused about whether the second mortgage could be foreclosed and whether she still owed any money on the second mortgage. She was constantly worried about losing her longtime home to foreclosure, and the fear and confusion inflicted significant stress on Ms. Walters.
33. On June 17, 2015, through counsel, Ms. Walters sent Bayview a Qualified Written Request, as defined under RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e), asking Bayview to correct a servicing error by canceling the second mortgage lien and ceasing to attempt to collect the second mortgage debt, which had been discharged and the lien extinguished. A true copy of the June 17th QWR is attached as Exhibit F.  Bayview received the June 17th QWR on June 22, 2015.

34.  Bayview did not acknowledge receipt of the June 17th QWR within five business days, and as of this date, has never acknowledged receipt of the June 17th QWR. 

35.  Bayview did not respond to the June 17th QWR by either correcting the error or conducting a reasonable investigation and providing written notice to Ms. Walters of the outcome of that investigation. Bayview also has not requested any extension of the deadline to respond to the June 17th QWR. 
V.  COUNT ONE: VIOLATION OF THE TRUTH IN LENDING ACT 
AGAINST U.S. BANK
36.  Ms. Walters incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-35 above.
37.  U.S. Bank became the owner of Ms. Walters’ mortgage loan through purchase, assignment, or other transfer and has acquired more than one mortgage loan in a twelve-month period. On information and belief, in its role as a trustee for securitized pools of mortgages, U.S. Bank acquired legal title to more than 100 mortgage loans in a twelve-month period.  
38.  The Transaction is subject to TILA and to the remedies described in TILA at 15 U.S.C. §1640. 

39.  U.S. Bank violated TILA and Regulation Z by failing to provide Ms. Walters with written notice of the November 20, 2014 transfer of her loan to U.S. Bank within thirty days after the date of the transfer. 15 U.S.C. §1641(g).

40. As a result of the above violation of TILA, Ms. Walters was harmed. She incurred the time, inconvenience, and expense of attempting to identify the owner of her loan, which she would not have otherwise incurred had U.S. Bank provided the written notice mandated by TILA. She was required to file several lien strip motions that proved unnecessary and incurred the expense of postage for the mailing of a Qualified Written Request and service of the lien strip motions. Ms. Walters also suffered significant emotional and mental distress as she struggled to identify the owner of the loan and confirm that she obtained a lien strip order against the proper party. Ms. Walters was stressed and frustrated by the need to file repeated lien strip motions and prolong her bankruptcy case. Because it was so difficult to identify the owner of the loan, Ms. Walters was confused and anxious about the status of the second mortgage, and she greatly feared losing her longtime home to foreclosure. 

41.  As a result of the above violation of TILA, Ms. Walters is entitled to her actual damages, $4,000 in TILA statutory damages, attorney’s fees, and costs.
VI. COUNT TWO: VIOLATION OF THE REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT 
PROCEDURES ACT AGAINST SPS 

42.  Ms. Walters incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-35 above. 


43.  On October 22, 2014, through counsel, Ms. Walters sent to SPS the letter attached hereto as Exhibit A. 


44.  The letter concerned the servicing of her second mortgage loan and was a Qualified Written Request to a servicer under RESPA at 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e).
45.  SPS received the QWR no later than October 28, 2014.

46.  Under 12 C.F.R. § 1024.36(d)(2), SPS was required to respond to the above QWR within ten days of its receipt (excluding legal public holidays, Saturdays, and Sundays), providing either the information requested by Ms. Walters or an explanation of why the information was unavailable or could not be obtained by SPS. 


47.  SPS did not provide accurate information about the owner of Ms. William’s loan, as requested in the QWR, within the time prescribed by RESPA.  SPS responded to the above QWR on three separate occasions, giving different information each time, and the third response occurred more than sixty days after SPS received the QWR. None of the responses provided by SPS gave accurate information responsive to her request or an explanation of why the information was unavailable or could not be obtained by SPS. 


48.  Ms. Walters was harmed by SPS’s failure to provide the requested information. Specifically, Ms. Walters incurred the time, inconvenience, and expense of properly serving, filing, and obtaining court orders for two lien strip motions against DLJ Capital and Bayview as a result of SPS’s October 30th and December 29th responses to her October 22nd QWR. Filing the additional lien strip motions delayed entry of the Chapter 7 discharge in Ms. Walters’s case and extended the time she was in bankruptcy. Ms. Walters incurred the cost of postage to mail the QWR and serve the two unnecessary lien strip motions. In addition, each time Ms. Walters received an inaccurate QWR response or collection notice from SPS, she incurred transportation costs and spent time driving to her employer’s office so that the correspondence could be scanned and emailed to her counsel. Ms. Walters suffered significant emotional and mental distress as a result of SPS’s RESPA violation. In particular, she experienced confusion and frustration not knowing whether the correct party was named in the lien strip orders, and needing to file additional lien strip motions prolonged her time as a debtor in an active bankruptcy case. Most significantly, Ms. Walters suffered anxiety and stress because she feared losing her longtime home to foreclosure. 

49.     SPS’s provision of inaccurate and untimely information over the course of three separate letters to Ms. Walters constitutes a pattern or practice of noncompliance with RESPA. Upon information and belief, SPS did not have adequate policies and procedures in place to timely and accurately identify the owner of a loan, as required by 12 C.F.R. 1024.36(d)(2)(A).

50. SPS’s pattern or practice of noncompliance with RESPA is further demonstrated by the high volume of consumer complaints filed against it. Ms. Walters is aware of other lawsuits filed against SPS asserting well-pled facts that demonstrate that SPS has a pattern or practice of RESPA violations. Many consumers do not file enforcement lawsuits for untimely or inaccurate responses to QWRs, which suggests that violations have occurred in many more instances. In addition, from January 1, 2015 through October 27, 2015, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) received 1,054 mortgage-related complaints against SPS, 262 of which concerned loan servicing issues.  

51.  SPS is therefore liable to Ms. Walters under RESPA for actual damages, statutory damages in the amount of $2,000 per violation, attorney’s fees, costs, and litigation expenses. 
VII. COUNT THREE: VIOLATION OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION 
PRACTICES ACT AGAINST SPS

52.  Ms. Walters incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-35 above. 

53.  Upon information and belief, SPS uses instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the mails in its business, the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts, and SPS regularly collects or attempts to collect debts owed or due another. As a mortgage servicer, SPS collects mortgage debts on behalf of mortgage holders. SPS collects payments from mortgage borrowers throughout the country, and sends numerous communications by mail in the collection of these debts. Therefore, SPS is a “debt collector” as defined by the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). SPS became the servicer of Ms. Walters’ mortgage when the loan was in default, and therefore does not fall into the exclusion provided in 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(F).

54.  SPS violated the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692f, and 1692g, by harassing Ms. Walters, making false, deceptive, and misleading representations while attempting to collect a debt, and using unfair or unconscionable means to collect a debt. In its three separate responses to Ms. Walters’ October 22nd QWR, SPS mischaracterized the character and legal status of the debt when it identified three separate owners of her second mortgage, entities against whom Ms. Walters had not yet obtained an order stripping the second mortgage lien.

55. SPS further violated the FDCPA by sending false, deceptive, misleading, unfair, and harassing letters to Ms. Walters after the October 17, 2014 order stripping the second mortgage lien, stating or suggesting that a valid lien existed against her property and that she could lose the property to foreclosure if she failed to make payments. One example of such a deceptive communication from SPS was the December 27th letter stating “The owner of the mortgage, as lien holder, continues to have an enforceable lien on the real property. If the lien rights are enforced, your client’s [sic] may lose her interest in the real property.” See Exhibit D. SPS also sent deceptive and misleading letters to Ms. Walters requesting documentation to evaluate her eligibility for a loan modification. 

56. As a result of the above violations of the FDCPA, Ms. Walters was harmed. She incurred unnecessary time, inconvenience, and expense attempting to identify the owner of her loan, which she would not have otherwise incurred but for SPS’s deceptive and misleading communications. Ms. Walters incurred the cost of serving two unnecessary lien strip motions. In addition, each time Ms. Walters received an inaccurate QWR response or collection notice from SPS, she incurred transportation costs and spent time driving to her employer’s office so that the correspondence could be scanned and emailed to her counsel. Ms. Walters also suffered emotional and mental distress each time she received a letter from SPS related to the mortgage after believing the loan would be discharged and canceled based on her bankruptcy filing and initial lien strip motion. The letters confused her about the status of the second mortgage and she worried that the lien strip orders were entered against the wrong party. She was anxious and fearful that if she did not pay the second mortgage, she was at risk of losing her longtime home to foreclosure. 

57.  As a result of the above violation of the FDCPA, Ms. Walters is entitled to actual damages, statutory damages of $1,000, attorney’s fees, costs, and litigation expenses.

VIII. COUNT FOUR: VIOLATION OF THE REAL ESTATE SETTLEMENT 

PROCEDURES ACT AGAINST BAYVIEW 


58.  Ms. Walters incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-35 above. 


59.  On June 17, 2015, through counsel, Ms. Walters sent to Bayview the letter attached hereto as Exhibit F. 


60.  The letter concerned the servicing of her second mortgage loan and was a Qualified Written Request to a servicer under RESPA at 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e).

61.  Bayview received the QWR no later than June 22, 2015.


62.  Under 12 C.F.R. § 1024.35, Bayview was required to acknowledge receipt of the June 17th QWR within five days of its receipt (excluding legal public holidays, Saturdays, and Sundays) and to respond fully to the QWR within thirty business days of its receipt (excluding legal public holidays, Saturdays, and Sundays).

63.  As of this date, Bayview has not acknowledged receipt of the June 17th QWR. Bayview also has neither corrected the error nor notified Ms. Walters in writing of any reasonable investigation into the error.  

64.  Ms. Walters has been harmed by Bayview’s failure to properly respond to the June 17th QWR.  Ms. Walters incurred the cost (including postage) of sending the QWR. Because Bayview did not cancel the lien, Ms. Walters’s interest in the home appears still to be encumbered by the second mortgage. Each time Bayview sent a collection letter to her home, Ms. Walters incurred transportation costs and spent time driving to her employer’s office so that the letters could be scanned and emailed to her counsel. Most significantly, Bayview’s failure to cancel the lien and continued collection attempts have caused Ms. Walters significant emotional and mental distress. The letters confused her about the status of the second mortgage and she worried that the lien strip orders were entered against the wrong party. She was anxious and fearful that if she did not pay the second mortgage or apply for a loan modification, she was at risk of losing her longtime home to foreclosure. 


65. Upon information and belief, this conduct by Bayview is part of a pattern or practice of noncompliance with RESPA. This pattern is further demonstrated by the high volume of consumer complaints filed against it. Numerous lawsuits have been filed against Bayview asserting well-pled facts that demonstrate that Bayview has a pattern or practice of RESPA violations. Many consumers do not file enforcement lawsuits for untimely or inaccurate responses to QWRs, which suggests that violations have occurred in many more instances. In addition, from January 1, 2015 through October 27, 2015, the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB) received 362 mortgage-related complaints against Bayview, 144 of which concerned loan servicing issues.  

66.  Bayview is therefore liable to Ms. Walters under RESPA for actual damages, statutory damages in the amount of $2,000 per violation, attorney’s fees, costs, and litigation expenses.  

IX. COUNT FIVE: VIOLATION OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION 

PRACTICES ACT AGAINST BAYVIEW


67.  Ms. Walters incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-35 above. 


68.  Upon information and belief, Bayview uses instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the mails in its business, the principal purpose of which is the collection of any debts, and Bayview regularly collects or attempts to collect debts owed or due another. As a mortgage servicer, Bayview collects mortgage debts on behalf of mortgage holders. Bayview collects payments from mortgage borrowers throughout the country, and sends numerous communications by mail in the collection of these debts. Therefore, Bayview is a “debt collector” as defined by the FDCPA. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). Bayview became the servicer of the mortgage after the loan had gone into default, and therefore does not fall into the exclusion provided in 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)F).  


69.  Bayview violated the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692f, and 1692g, by harassing Ms. Walters, making false, deceptive, and misleading representations while attempting to collect a debt, and using unfair or unconscionable means to collect a debt.  


70. Bayview violated the FDCPA by sending false, deceptive, misleading, unfair, and harassing letters to Ms. Walters after the October 17, 2014 order stripping the second mortgage lien, stating or suggesting that a valid lien existed against her property and that she could lose the property to foreclosure if she failed to make payments. One example of such a deceptive communication from SPS was the May 28, 2015 letter titled “Notice of Default and Intent to Accelerate” attached hereto as Exhibit G. Another deceptive communication from SPS is the August 20, 2015 mortgage statement showing a total amount owed of $22,787.67 attached hereto as Exhibit H. Ms. Walters received deceptive communications from Bayview, attached hereto as Exhibits I(N, on June 25, 2015; July 6, 2015; August 4, 2015; August 20, 2015; August 25, 2015; and September 15, 2015 all suggesting that Ms. Walters had an outstanding mortgage loan in default. In addition, Ms. Walters received a deceptive and misleading letter from a law firm claiming to represent Bayview. The letter stated that Bayview referred the “Loan debt” of $51,104.69 to their firm for “review and handling.”

71. As a result of the above violations of the FDCPA, Ms. Walters was harmed. Each time Ms. Walters received a collection letter from Bayview, she incurred transportation costs and spent time driving to her employer’s office so that the correspondence could be scanned and emailed to her counsel. Ms. Walters suffered significant emotional and mental distress as a result of Bayview’s FDCPA violations. Receiving collection letters from Bayview after believing the loan had been discharged and extinguished based on her bankruptcy filing and initial lien strip motion caused her to suffer confusion and anxiety. The letters confused her about the status of the second mortgage and she worried that the lien strip orders were entered against the wrong party. Receiving correspondence stating that her loan was in default, that it had been accelerated, and that Bayview referred it to a law firm scared Ms. Walters. She was anxious and fearful that if she did not pay the second mortgage, she was at risk of losing her longtime home to foreclosure. 

72. As a result of the above violation of the FDCPA, Ms. Walters is entitled to actual damages, statutory damages of $1,000, attorney’s fees, costs and litigation expense.

WHEREFORE, Ms. Walters respectfully prays for the following relief:

(1)  Under Count I  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1against U.S. Bank, award Ms. Walters $4,000 per violation in TILA statutory damages, plus actual damages in an amount to be determined at trial, costs, and attorney’s fees; 

(2) Under Count II against SPS, award Ms. Walters actual damages in an amount to be determined at trial,  statutory damages of $2,000 per violation, attorney’s fees, costs, and litigation expenses;

(3) Under Count III against SPS, award actual damages in an amount to be determined at trial, statutory damages of $1,000, attorney’s fees, costs and litigation expenses; 
(4) Under Count IV against Bayview award Ms. Walters actual damages in an amount to be determined at trial,  statutory damages of $2,000 per violation, attorney’s fees, costs, and litigation expenses;

(5) Under Count V against Bayview, award actual damages in an amount to be determined at trial, statutory damages of $1,000, attorney’s fees, costs and litigation expenses; and

 (6) award such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

TRIAL BY JURY DEMANDED.
This 25th day of January, 2016,







________________________








Kristen E. Thomas
Michigan Bar No. 12345
[Address block]
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